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Preface
Public Accounts 2007-2008
The Public Accounts of Alberta are prepared in accordance with the Financial Administration Act
and the Government Accountability Act. The Public Accounts consist of the annual report of the
Government of Alberta and the annual reports of each of the 20 Ministries.
The annual report of the Government of Alberta released June 24, 2008 contains the Minister
of Finance’s accountability statement and the consolidated financial statements of the Province.  
The Measuring Up report released June 24, 2008 provides a comparison of the actual
performance results to desired results set out in the government’s business plan.
On March 12, 2008, the government announced new ministry structures. Since the
2007-08 fiscal year was substantially completed prior to this announcement, ministry
annual reports and financial statements have been prepared as if the restructuring took
place on April 1, 2008, to provide proper accountability for the 2007-08 fiscal year
against the original business plan.
This annual report of the Ministry of Infrastructure and Transportation contains the Ministers’
accountability statement, the audited financial statements of the Ministry and a comparison of
actual performance results to desired results set out in the ministry business plan. This Ministry
annual report also includes other financial information as required by the Financial Administration
Act and Government Accountability Act, either as separate reports or as a part of the financial
statements, to the extent that the Ministry has anything to report.
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Ministers’ Accountability Statement
The Ministry’s annual report for the year ended March 31, 2008, was prepared under our direction
in accordance with the Government Accountability Act and the government’s accounting policies.
All of the government’s policy decisions as at September 8, 2008 with material economic or fiscal
implications of which we are aware have been considered in the preparation of this report.

Original signed by

Original signed by

Luke Ouellette
Minister		
Alberta Transportation

Jack Hayden
Minister
Alberta Infrastructure
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Message from the Ministers
Without a doubt, 2007-08 was a challenging,
productive and significant year for Infrastructure and
Transportation. The Ministry not only achieved some
of its greatest accomplishments, but was also divided
into the Ministry of Infrastructure and the Ministry of
Transportation. This separation of responsibilities
allows each ministry to focus on its areas of expertise
and provides a distinct perspective on both roads and
infrastructure.

Luke Ouellette
Minister
Alberta Transportation

Jack Hayden
Minister
Alberta Infrastructure

In the rearview mirror
Infrastructure and Transportation continued to represent Alberta’s interests in transportation policy. This
involved developing provincial policies pertaining to highways, municipal transportation, carriers, and rail
and air transportation.
One of our three mandates for 2007-08 was to expand the capacity of Alberta’s highway system to
address growth pressures. We invested more than $320 million to build and enhance provincial highway
systems, which supported Alberta’s strong economy as well as helped manage growth.
We invested about $516 million in highway rehabilitation and maintenance and we also provided $591
million for the strategic economic corridor investment initiative. This included the Edmonton and Calgary
ring roads and the North-South Trade Corridor.
In October 2007, we completed the southeast portion of Edmonton’s Anthony Henday Drive, Alberta’s
first public-private partnership (P3) highway project. This 11-km freeway features 20 bridge structures,
including five interchanges and no traffic lights. It provides a vital transportation link for the Edmonton
region.
We also announced that the province was moving ahead with construction of the 21-km north leg of the
Edmonton ring road as a P3. Construction on the north leg will be completed by 2011 and will feature
eight interchanges, five flyovers and no traffic lights.
In Calgary, we continued to make progress on the northeast Stoney Trail ring road and expect this section
to be completed by fall 2009. As for Stoney Trail northwest, we anticipate a partial opening in fall 2008,
with full opening in fall 2009.
In the Fort McMurray area, we began construction on the first section of Highway 63 twinning south of
Fort McMurray, continued twinning north of the city, resumed paving on Highway 63 from Beacon Hill
to north of Confederation Way, and began construction on the approaches to the new five-lane bridge
across the Athabasca River Bridge in Fort McMurray.
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As part of our efforts to reduce the number of people killed or injured on Alberta’s roads, we continued
to put significant funding into vehicle and driver safety programs, monitoring of the commercial carrier
industry and safety initiatives including implementation of the Traffic Safety Plan, another of the Ministry’s
three mandates.
Our third mandate was to develop a new provincial aviation strategy to explore options to ensure the
viability of small airports in Alberta. Accordingly, we held consultations with key provincial, municipal and
industry stakeholders to develop the Small Airports Strategy for consideration by government.
Regarding the commercial trucking industry, we continued to harmonize motor carrier regulations with
regulations across Canada. We also began using innovative thermal imaging technology to enhance
safety inspections of commercial vehicles and take unsafe trucks off Alberta’s roads.
In support of municipal infrastructure, we provided more than $1.3 billion in grants to municipalities in
2007-08 to help fund their priority infrastructure projects. Local governments were able to use this funding
for projects including roads, bridges, public transit, water and wastewater and emergency services.
To help develop infrastructure to meet local and government needs, we supported water supply, water
and wastewater treatment, and disposal facilities through funding under the Water for Life program. We
provided about $106 million towards 136 different water-related projects across the province.
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In partnership with Justice and Attorney General, and Solicitor General and Public Security, the Ministry
continued to provide project oversight of design and construction for the new Calgary Courts Centre,
which opened to the public in September 2007. Government financed the facility with private sector
partners responsible for designing, constructing and operating the facility over a 30-year term. The new
court facility is designed to achieve the Leadership in Energy and Environmental Design (LEED) Silver
standard and will meet the BOMA Go Green Standard for environmentally-friendly operations. Work also
began on Phase II of the project including demolishing the Court of Queen’s Bench and constructing a
700-stall underground parking garage and urban park.
In collaboration with Solicitor General and Public Security, the Ministry began site preparation for the
new Remand Centre in north Edmonton. This 2,000-bed facility is being implemented on a construction
management basis. This will accelerate construction and mitigate cost escalation by allowing construction
of the foundation to begin while the final design is being completed. Anticipated completion is
November 2011.
To reduce capital costs and enhance flexibility to meet enrolment needs, the Ministry developed six
core designs for kindergarten to Grade 9 schools, to be used in conjunction with steel-framed modular
classrooms.
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The concept involves constructing a permanent core school with permanent classroom space (about
30 per cent of total required), administration, gymnasium, washroom space and mechanical/electrical
rooms sized to accommodate peak enrolments. High-performance modular classrooms can be added or
subtracted to accommodate changing enrolments.
The school designs were incorporated into the Alberta Schools Alternative Procurement (ASAP) Phase I
initiative. We provided technical support for this project which will provide 18 new K-9 schools, nine each
in Edmonton and Calgary by fall 2010. Work also began on preliminary planning and site selection for
ASAP Phase II. Initial work also began on core school designs for these grade configurations.
Work began on the Edmonton Clinic, a research-educational-health care facility. Led by the Ministry, the
clinic joint project includes the University of Alberta and Capital Health.
In addition, we provided facilities support for all government ministries, through our management,
maintenance and operation of government owned and leased facilities, land planning, land acquisition
and leasing services. This includes sale of surplus government properties, and planning and project
management services to renovate facilities to meet ministries’ program delivery needs.
We also continued to administer the Natural Gas Rebates Program to more than one million eligible
homes and businesses. In 2007-08, we provided about $329.5 million in rebates.

Looking down the road
Premier Stelmach assigned a shared minister’s mandate for the coming year to the Ministers of
Infrastructure and Transportation: To work with the President of the Treasury Board to provide the
roads, schools, hospitals and other public infrastructure to meet the needs of a growing economy and
population.
In addition, Premier Stelmach assigned each Minister an individual mandate. The minister’s mandate for
Infrastructure is to increase the efficiency of health and education infrastructure design and construction,
while the minister’s mandate for Transportation is to double the provincial investment in highway repaving
and bridge repair over the next three years. Improving traffic safety on Alberta’s roads continues to be a
high priority for government.
With the assistance of skilled and dedicated staff from Alberta Infrastructure and Alberta Transportation,
we will keep building on successes and work to meet the increasing demand for public infrastructure for
the benefit of Albertans.

Original signed by

Luke Ouellette 							
Minister 							
Alberta Transportation						

Original signed by

Jack Hayden
Minister
Alberta Infrastructure
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Management’s Responsibility for Reporting
The Ministry of Infrastructure and Transportation includes: the Department of Alberta
Infrastructure and Transportation, and the Alberta Transportation Safety Board.
The executives of the Ministry have the primary responsibility and accountability for the Ministry.
Collectively, the executives ensure the Ministry complies with all relevant legislation, regulations
and policies.
Ministry business plans, annual reports, performance results and the supporting management
information are integral to the government’s fiscal and business plans, annual report, quarterly
reports and other financial and performance reporting.
Responsibility for the integrity and objectivity of the financial statements and performance results
for the Ministry rests with the Ministers of Infrastructure and Transportation. Under the direction
of the Minister, we oversee the preparation of the Ministry’s annual report, including consolidated
financial statements and performance results.  The consolidated financial statements and
performance results, of necessity, include amounts that are based on estimates and judgments.
The financial statements are prepared in accordance with the government’s stated accounting
policies.
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As Deputy Ministers, in addition to program responsibilities, we establish and maintain the
Ministry’s financial administration and reporting functions.  The Ministry maintains systems of
financial management and internal control, which give consideration to costs, benefits, and risks
that are designed to:
zz provide reasonable assurance that transactions are properly authorized, executed in
accordance with prescribed legislation and regulations, and properly recorded so as
to maintain accountability of public money,
zz provide information to manage and report on performance,
zz safeguard the assets and properties of the Province under Ministry administration,
zz provide Executive Council, Treasury Board, the Ministers of Finance and the
Ministers of Infrastructure and Transportation any information needed to fulfill their
responsibilities, and
zz facilitate preparation of Ministry business plans and annual reports required under the
Government Accountability Act.
In fulfilling our responsibilities for the Ministry, we have relied, as necessary, on the executives
within the Ministry.

Original signed by

Original signed by

Jay G. Ramotar					
Deputy Minister						
Transportation						
September 8, 2008					

Barry Day
Deputy Minister
Infrastructure
September 8, 2008
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Overview
The following organization chart represents the structure of Alberta Infrastructure and
Transportation from April 1, 2007 to March 12, 2008, prior to the March 12, 2008 government
restructuring.
Minister of Infrastructure
and Transportation
Honourable Luke Ouellette

Deputy Minister
Jay Ramotar

Transportation and Civil
Engineering Division
Acting Assistant
Deputy Minister
Tim Hawnt
Transportation Safety
Services Division
Assistant Deputy Minister
Shaun Hammond

Alberta Transportation
Safety Board
Gary Boddez

Policy and Corporate
Services Division
Assistant Deputy Minister
Rob Penny

••
•
•
•
•

Communications Branch
Director
Jerry Bellikka

Capital Projects Division
Assistant Deputy Minister
Barry Day

Properties Division
Assistant Deputy Minister
Bob Smith
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Human Resources Branch
Executive Director
Lynn Cook
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The following organization chart represents the structure of Alberta Infrastructure from March 12, 2008 to
March 31, 2008.

Minister of Infrastructure
Honourable Jack Hayden
Telephone: 780-427-5041
Fax: 780-422-2002

Deputy Minister
Barry Day
Telephone: 780-427-3835
Fax: 780-422-6565
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Capital Projects Division
Acting Assistant
Deputy Minister
Alan Humphries
Telephone: 780-415-1386
Fax: 780-422-1070
E-mail: alan.humphries@gov.ab.ca

Properties Division
Assistant Deputy Minister
Bob Smith
Telephone: 780-427-3875
Fax: 780-422-1389
E-mail: bob.smith@gov.ab.ca

Policy and Corporate
Services Division
Assistant Deputy Minister
Rob Penny
Telephone: 780-415-1386
Fax: 780-427-1066
E-mail: rob.penny@gov.ab.ca
(Shared with Transportation)

Communications Branch
Director
Stuart Elson
Telephone: 780-644-8596
Fax: 780-427-2187
E-mail: stuart.elson@gov.ab.ca

Human Resources Branch
Executive Director
Lynn Cook
Telephone: 780-415-8771
Fax: 780-411-5138
E-mail: lynn.cook@gov.ab.ca
(Shared with Transportation)
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The following organization chart represents the structure of Alberta Transportation from March 12, 2008 to
March 31, 2008.

Minister of Transportation
Honourable Luke Ouellette
Telephone: 780-427-2080
Fax: 780-422-2722

Alberta Transportation
Safety Board
Gary Boddez

Deputy Minister
Jay Ramotar

Telephone: 780-427-8623
Fax: 780-422-9739
E-mail: gary.boddez@gov.ab.ca

Telephone: 780-427-6912
Fax: 780-422-6515

Transportation and Civil
Engineering Division
Assistant Deputy Minister
Tim Hawnt
Telephone: 780-427-3642
Fax: 780-415-1268
E-Mail: tim.hawnt@gov.ab.ca

Transportation Safety
Services Division
Assistant Deputy Minister
Shaun Hammond
Telephone: 780-415-1146
Fax: 780-415-0782
E-mail: shaun.hammond@gov.ab.ca

Policy and Corporate
Services Division
Assistant Deputy Minister
Rob Penny
Telephone: 780-415-1386
Fax: 780-427-1066
E-mail: rob.penny@gov.ab.ca
(Shared with Infrastructure)

Communications Branch
Director
Jerry Bellikka
Telephone: 780-415-1841
Fax: 780-466-3166
E-mail: jerry.bellikka@gov.ab.ca

Human Resources Branch
Executive Director
Lynn Cook
Telephone: 780-415-8771
Fax: 780-411-5138
E-mail: lynn.cook@gov.ab.ca
(Shared with Infrastructure)
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Vision
Alberta Infrastructure and Transportation is a Centre of Excellence providing effective
infrastructure to support Alberta’s growth and prosperity.

Mission
We contribute to Alberta’s economic prosperity and quality of life through the provision and
support of effective, safe, innovative and sustainable transportation, public buildings, and water
and wastewater infrastructure.

Core Businesses
Core Business 1: Sustainable provincial infrastructure
				
Core Business 2: Safe, accessible and connected communities
Core Business 3: Strong stakeholder partnerships
			

Cross-ministry Initiatives
In conjunction with other ministries, the Ministry supported top priority government initiatives
through its activities:
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Expand the capacity of Alberta’s highway system to address growth pressures
zz Continued construction on the twinning of the North-South Trade Corridor.
zz Development of the Asia-Pacific Gateway.
zz Continued construction of urban corridors, such as the Edmonton and Calgary ring
roads.
zz Additions and improvements to the road network in high-growth areas, including the
Regional Municipality of Wood Buffalo.
Managing complex government owned and supported infrastructure
zz Work with partner ministries and other stakeholders in the development of plans to
address deferred maintenance.
zz Identify and manage priority capital projects.
zz Greater focus on addressing capital project priorities with use of alternative financing
opportunities, including public-private partnerships, to provide needed infrastructure.
Support for the Government of Alberta’s top strategic priorities
zz Managing a variety of long-term grant programs for local authorities.
zz Supporting the Water for Life strategy.
zz Participating in the development of a Land-use Framework.
Develop a new provincial aviation strategy to explore options to ensure the viability of small
airports in Alberta
zz Explore various options available to provide Albertans with an optimal return on the
province’s investment in small airports.
Implement a provincial Traffic Safety Plan to reduce the number of collisions on Alberta roads
zz Continued work in partnerships with Justice, Solicitor General and Public Security,
and other government ministries and external stakeholders.

2007-08 Infrastructure and Transportation Annual Report

Results Analysis
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Report of the Auditor General on the Results of Applying Specified Auditing Procedures to Performance
Measures

To the Members of the Legislative Assembly
Management is responsible for the integrity and objectivity of the performance results included in the Ministry of
Infrastructure and Transportation’s 2007-2008 Annual Report. My responsibility is to carry out the following specified
auditing procedures on performance measures in the annual report. I verified:
Completeness
1. Performance measures and targets matched those included in Budget 2007. Actual results are presented for all
performance measures.
Reliability
2. Information in reports from external organizations, such as Statistics Canada, matched information that the
Ministry used to calculate the actual results.
3.

Information in reports that originated in the Ministry matched information that the Ministry used to calculate the
actual results. In addition, I tested the processes the Ministry used to compile the results.

Comparability and Understandability
4. Actual results are presented clearly and consistently with the stated methodology and are presented on the same
basis as targets and prior years’ information.
I found an exception for the measure Physical Condition of Learning Facilities – Schools in good, fair, or poor
condition.  I am unable to conclude that the results presented were reliable (procedures 2 and 3) because I was
unable to verify changes made by the Ministry to the external consultants’ reports used to prepare the measure.
Management has explained in the Results Analysis section under Goal 5 that they are continuing to review and refine
controls for managing facility assessment data provided by external consultants.
As my examination was limited to procedures 1 to 4 above, I do not express an opinion on whether the set of
measures is relevant and sufficient to assess the performance of the Ministry in achieving its goals.
The official version of this Report of the Auditor General, and the information the Report covers, is in printed form.

Original Signed by Fred J. Dunn, FCA
FCA
Auditor General

Edmonton, Alberta
August 26, 2008
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Expense by Core Business
Financial Resources
(thousands of dollars)
Planned Spending (Estimates)
Total Authorized
Actual Spending in 2007-08
Actual Spending in 2006-07

4,760,469
4,921,858
4,437,787
3,730,183

Alberta Infrastructure and Transportation
2007-08 Ministry Spending by Core Business
(Operating Expense and Capital Investment Combined)
(000’s)
Core Business 1
$820,331 (18.5%)
Sustainable provincial
infrastructure

Core Business 2
$1,741,298 (39.2%)
Safe, accessible and
connected communities
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Core Business 3
$1,876,158 (42.3%)
Strong stakeholder
partnerships

Initially, Alberta Infrastructure and Transportation received $4.8 billion in approved Planned Spending
(Estimates) in 2007-08.  During the fiscal year, the target Estimates were increased to $4.9 billion.  The
additional funding of $161.4 million was the result of funding reprofiled from 2006-07 to 2007-08 due to
project delays including the Royal Alberta Museum, the Edmonton Remand Centre, and staged delivery
of major projects to 2007-08 within the Provincial Highway Systems, and Strategic Economic Corridor
Investment Initiative programs as a result of construction delays. Major projects include the North-South
Trade Corridor and Edmonton and Calgary ring roads.
Overall, the total 2007-08 expenditures were lower than Estimates by $322.7 million, which was primarily
due to lower natural gas prices resulting in reduced rebate payments, fewer de-designations of provincial
highways to municipalities, and capital construction projects being reprofiled from 2007-08 to 2008-09.
The $707.6 million increase in actual spending during 2007-08 compared to 2006-07 was primarily
the result of one-time funding approved for highway projects in resource development areas, the
commencement of construction on the Northeast Stoney Trail section of the ring road in Calgary, and
additional grants being provided to Edmonton and Calgary to address priority water and wastewater
infrastructure projects.
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Expense by Function
In accordance with Government of Alberta accounting principles, Alberta Infrastructure and
Transportation classifies its expenses into ten functions.  Each of these functions identifies the
principal purpose for which Ministry expenditures are incurred. It should be noted that Expense by
Function is only for operating expenditures.

Expense by Function by Dollars
(in thousands)

2007-08 		 Comparable
Budget
2007-08
2006-07
(Estimates)
Actual
Actual
Transportation,
2,443,189
2,290,474
2,173,048
Communications and Utilities 				
General Government
490,746
461,586
383,178
Protection of Persons and Property
42,542
37,661
38,682
Health
777
24,533
29,455
Environment
25,125
32,235
26,474
Agriculture, Resource Management
50,000
26,128
15,934
and Economic Development 				
Debt Servicing Costs
7,964
7,964
Education
2,030
6,065
4,510
Housing
3,147
2,402
Regional Planning and Development
2,994
3,713
2,671
Total Ministry
3,065,367
2,893,506
2,676,354

Overall, approximately 95 per cent of the Ministry’s expenditures support the functions of
Transportation, Communications and Utilities and General Government.
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Discussion and Analysis of Results
In 2007-08, Ministry spending supported delivery of the following three core businesses:

Core Business 1:

Sustainable provincial infrastructure

The primary programs linked to this core business include: Property Operations, Capital
and Accommodation Projects, Government Owned Facilities Preservation, the Swan Hills
Treatment Centre, Provincial Highway Maintenance and Rehabilitation, and Water Management
Infrastructure.
Financial Resources
(in thousands)
Planned Spending (Estimates)
Total Authorized
Actual Spending in 2007-08
Actual Spending in 2006-07

22
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Operating
Expense
691,010
654,960
667,097
622,084

Capital
Investment
246,166
289,196
153,234
196,222

The total under-expenditure of $116.8 million relative to planned spending is primarily due to
Capital and Accommodation Projects funding re-scheduled from 2007-08 to 2008-09 for project
delays related to the Royal Alberta Museum, the Edmonton Remand Centre, and the Calgary
Courts Centre Parkade.
When taking the Operating Expense and Capital Investment Votes together, the overall net
increase of $2 million in spending in 2007-08 compared to 2006-07 is primarily due to inflationary
increases to contractor services, and to address priority highway maintenance projects. These
operational increases were offset by a decrease in Provincial Highway Rehabilitation, primarily
due to a recent decision to capitalize certain highway rehabilitation projects, and a decrease in
Capital and Accommodation Projects, primarily due to funding rescheduled from 2007-08 to 200809 for various project delays as mentioned above.

Goal 1 – Provide safe and efficient provincial infrastructure for individuals and communities.
Strategic Approach
1.1 Continue to manage the construction and rehabilitation programs for provincially
supported, major water management infrastructure.
1.2 Work with partners and stakeholders in developing strategies to improve access for
seniors and persons with disabilities, including transportation facilities and systems
and barrier-free access in all planned infrastructure construction projects.
1.3 Ensure accessibility needs for persons with disabilities continue to be fully
considered in Ministry building design standards, policies, programs and projects.
1.4 Continue to identify and implement leading practices to operate the Swan Hills
Treatment Centre in a safe and efficient manner.

2007-08 Infrastructure and Transportation Annual Report

1.5

1.6
1.7

Implement approaches identified to minimize deterioration of provincial highways
to reduce the amount of major maintenance required, such as new rehabilitation
materials and methods, enforcement of road restrictions and bans, and revised
load weights and dimension regulations.
Apply environmental management and remediation initiatives to address identified
concerns at properties owned by the government.
Continue with the approved physical building and site security implementation plan
for government facilities, which will initially focus on the higher risk facilities by
installing new or replacing and expanding obsolete security systems.

Results
zz Applied all of the current building design standards and building codes to allow

zz

zz

zz

zz

zz

zz

zz

zz

zz

barrier-free access to government buildings. Some of the most common barrier-free
access points include access to parking, front entry, washroom, elevator and fire
alarm warnings.
Part of the ongoing work on government-owned buildings incorporated barrier free
upgrades. Over $25 million was spent on major maintenance which included many
barrier free access upgrades to government-owned buildings.
Performed an assessment to determine the long-term viability of the Swan Hills
Treatment Centre and the continuing worth of the Centre to the province. The
assessment recommendations are currently being considered by government.
Automated route analysis of overweight and oversize loads through the
Transportation Vehicle Information Systems (TRAVIS) as one approach to managing
truck weight, dimension and safety limits on provincial highways and municipal roads.
Developed a strategy to address the preservation backlog of provincial highways.
On August 15, 2007, projects worth $142 million were tendered, with Treasury Board
releasing another $126 million for 2008 construction. By mid-December, all 2008
projects had been tendered.
Created enforcement plans to ensure maximum life of the infrastructure. Extra patrols
and monitoring were completed to identify roads and bridges that were susceptible to
damage.
Invested $1 million in three provincial infrastructure projects in Red Deer - the
Remand Centre, Michener Centre and Marwayne Building - to reduce operating
and maintenance costs and cut emissions. The projects are part of a $350 million
commitment by government to fix and maintain more than 100 schools, hospitals,
post-secondary facilities and government buildings across the province.
Certified 33 buildings with Building Owners and Managers Association (BOMA)
Go Green out of planned 90 buildings over three years. The Ministry is on target to
achieve the three year goal.
Completed construction on the $5 million containment and groundwater treatment
system at the Turner Valley Gas Plant. The containment and treatment system will
capture hydrocarbons and other contaminants from the historic Turner Valley Gas
Plant preventing them from flowing off-site and entering the Sheep River.
Upgrades were made to improve physical security with a focus on court houses and
provincial buildings. Ten buildings were equipped with card access systems, video
monitoring and improved perimeter lighting.
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z
z Opened the Calgary Courts Centre to the public on September 4, 2007. This project

z
z

z
z

z
z

24

••
•

z
z

•
•
•
•

z
z

•

z
z

z
z

was done in partnership with the private sector to design, build and operate the
facility which will house 73 court rooms, with accommodation for future expansion.
Unique techniques, methodology and instrumentation for commissioning advanced
audio/visual control systems were used throughout the construction.
Continued with the application of the Leadership in Energy and Environmental
Design (LEED) Silver standard and integrated it into the design processes for new
buildings including: Edmonton Clinic, Alberta Schools Alternative Procurement
project, new Edmonton Remand Centre, Brooks Greenhouse, Westerra High School,
and Sexsmith school.
Commenced construction of the new Edmonton Remand Centre in March 2008 using
a new construction-management approach. This approach mitigates the effects of
construction cost escalation by designing and completing tender packages based
on construction phases, instead of completing all the design and then tendering one
package.
The health care “pod” (one component building of the group that makes up
package.  The
the entire new remand centre) is substantially complete.
complete.  The
The central administration
building, the largest component, is well on it’s way to completion, and foundation
work has commenced on the remaining ﬁve
five pods.
Enhanced industry collaboration was carried out with the cities of Calgary and
Edmonton. A comprehensive listing of vertical infrastructure projects across the
province was developed and circulated to the Consulting Engineers of Alberta (CEA),
the Alberta Association of Architects (AAA) and the Alberta Construction Association
(ACA) to facilitate strategic corporate planning by their member organizations.
A
organizations.  A
new committee, the Institutional Infrastructure Partners Committee (IIPC), was
formed with these industry partners and will provide an ongoing forum for information
sharing, issues resolution, and improved capital programming.
Implemented and applied procedures from the “Mould in Indoor Environments and
Risk Assessment and Management Program Handbook” for all government owned
and supported facilities. The handbook includes: Program Overview; Environmental
Health Advisory; Safe Operating Procedures – Mould Prevention; Indoor Air Quality
Guidelines; Safe Operating Procedures – Mould Remediation.
Continued work on the Sam Livingston Fish Hatchery in Calgary, including
completion of the base building renovations and additions to accommodate
interpretive exhibits,
exhibits,  ongoing
ongoing work on exhibits and a new bog “fen” (ﬂoating
(floating pen),
and commencement of pre-design for upgrades to the water treatment and waste
disposal facility.
Carried out a preliminary engineering study in 2007 to determine the feasibility of
redeveloping the Federal Building. It was determined that it would be more costeffective to renovate the building rather than demolishing it and building new. Design
work on the Federal Building, plaza and parkade commenced and the ﬁrst
first phase of
hazardous materials removal from the Federal Building started in 2007-08 and should
be completed by December 2008.
followinglodges
seniors
Onoway
Lodge;and
RedSpruce
Willow View
in
Completed work on the seniors
at lodges:
Willow Creek
in Stettler
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Willow
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ViewLodge
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also
WorkCreek
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Performance Measures

Infrastructure and Transportation utilized five
ﬁve measures to indicate how well it achieved Goal 1 in
2007-08.
Government Owned and Operated Facilities
1.a Government Owned and Operated Facilities – Physical condition
Government
- GovernmentOwned
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This measure is the percentage of replacement value of government owned and operated
facilities over 1,000 gross square metres that were rated in good, fair or poor physical condition.
Under the Government of Alberta’s Capital Planning Initiative, definitions
deﬁnitions for physical condition
are as follows:

••

Good - Adequate for intended use and expected to provide continued service life with average
maintenance.

•

Fair - Aging components are nearing the end of their life cycle and require additional expenditures
for renewal or refurbishing.
Poor - Upgrading is required to comply with minimum codes or standards and deterioration has
reached the point where major repairs or replacement are necessary.
The measure rates the condition of buildings and is therefore a measure of how well building
infrastructure is being maintained.
The percentages are calculated by the total ﬁve-year
maintained.  The
five-year
maintenance event cost and dividing by the total replacement value of all facilities.
The condition of each building was based on an assessment of a building’s ﬁve
five major systems
(structural, envelope, interior, mechanical and electrical).
The evaluator selected a condition
electrical).  The
rating (from 1 to 6) for each system by matching the overall condition with a set of deﬁnitions.
A
definitions.  A
weighted average of the ﬁve
Ratings one,
five system ratings produced the overall building rating.
rating.  Ratings
two and three were rated as poor, four was rated as fair, and ﬁve
five and six were rated as good.
This measure is linked to Core Business 1 “Sustainable provincial infrastructure” and Goal 1

•
•
•
•
•
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“Provide safe and efﬁcient
efficient infrastructure for individuals and communities” from the Infrastructure
and Transportation published 2007-10 Business Plan. The Physical Condition of Government
Owned and Operated Facilities measure links to Goal 4 of the Government of Alberta 2007-10
Strategic Business Plan.
The percentage of government owned and operated facilities over 1,000 gross square metres
that are rated in good, fair and poor condition was 38 per cent, 57 per cent and ﬁve
five per cent,
respectively. Although performance was below the target for facilities in good condition, the
target for facilities in fair condition was exceeded and the percentage of facilities in poor condition
remained stable, increasing by one percent compared to 2006-07, just short of the target.
Many government owned and operated facilities were built between 1975 and 1985 and are
approaching a time when major upgrading or refurbishment will be required to maintain them.

••
•
•
•
•
•

With over 80 per cent of the buildings being more than 20 years old, it will continue to be a
challenge to balance the need to maintain existing aging infrastructure while addressing the
requirements for new infrastructure to best serve Albertans.
Provincial Highways
1.b Physical Condition of Provincial Highways
Physical Condition of Provincial Highways

•
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The data was collected through condition assessments by Ministry staff and consultants over a
five-year cycle, with one-ﬁfth
ﬁve-year
one-fifth of the owned buildings evaluated each year.
year.  Facilities
Facilities owned by
the provincial government but leased or operated by others were excluded from this measure.
The data collected is stored in an electronic database using a program called Real Estate
Capital Asset Priority Planning (RECAPP).
(RECAPP).  RECAPP
RECAPP is produced and maintained by a private
sector vendor. The software and its associated methodology are used by other jurisdictions in
education, public works and property management settings. A Ministry-wide interpretation of
Facility Condition Index (FCI) values has been adopted.
adopted.  If
If the building has an FCI of less than
15 per cent, it is in good condition; if it is greater than 15 and equal to, or less than 40 per cent,
it is in fair condition; and if the FCI exceeds 40 per cent, it is in poor condition. Governmentowned buildings will begin using the FCI valuation in reporting building condition during the next
Business Planning Cycle.
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The condition measure defines the percentage of the paved highway network that is in good,
fair and poor condition.  The International Roughness Index (IRI) measures the roughness
of roads and is used as an indicator of the overall physical condition of provincial highways.
The segments in poor and fair condition are those that require attention now or in the near
future.
The condition measure was established to ensure the quality of the paved highway network
is sustainable and that business, pleasure and commercial traffic can travel safely and
comfortably. This is important in maintaining present levels of economic development and
supporting future growth.
Physical condition ties to Core Business 1 “Sustainable provincial infrastructure” and to
Goal 1 “Provide safe and efficient infrastructure for individuals and communities” from
the Infrastructure and Transportation published 2007-10 Business Plan. It links to the
Government of Alberta 2007-10 Strategic Business Plan Goal 10, “Alberta will have effective
and efficient transportation infrastructure.”
The results for 2007-08 indicate that the percentages of paved highway in good, fair and
poor condition are 59.0 per cent, 25.9 per cent and 15.1 per cent respectively. This is better
than the established targets but still shows a continuing deterioration. This is due to the fact
that the infrastructure is aging and that present base budgets are insufficient to adequately
accommodate that aging.
The identification of roads as good, fair, poor relies on standards established as a
result of a comprehensive research study conducted on the Ministry’s behalf by the
University of Calgary in 2002 of condition and other performance measures. The study’s
recommendations resulted in establishing condition trigger values.  Trigger values are defined
as the boundary between categories of good-fair and fair-poor, and are set using a proactive
life cycle analysis approach.  The values are categorized by road classification and are based
on one-kilometre segments.
Alberta Infrastructure and Transportation Standards
IRI Rating
110 km/h Highways
< 110 km/h Highways
Good
< 1.5 m/km
< 1.5 m/km
Fair
1.5 – 1.89 m/km
1.5 – 2.09 m/km
Poor
≥ 1.9 m/km
≥ 2.1 m/km
After existing good, fair, poor segments are identified, anticipated work activities and
pavement deterioration rates are incorporated to determine future performance targets.
The IRI rating for all highways is obtained through data collected annually by consultants on
behalf of the Ministry.  Using laser-based equipment, the consultant reports the average IRI
value over a 50-metre segment of the highway. This detailed data is further averaged over
one-kilometre sections to provide an assessment of condition over practical lengths.
Approximately 9,600 kilometres of Alberta’s paved provincial highways are approaching
an age where rehabilitation/reconstruction must be considered.  This is an increase of 900
kilometres from 2006-07. Based on the size of the existing network, approximately 1,500
kilometres of highway should be resurfaced each year.
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Water Management
1.c Progress on Completion of Major Water Management Construction Projects
Percentage of Carseland-Bow River Headworks
Rehabilitation Completed
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This measure reflects the construction progress on major water management projects.  Related
activities include design, land acquisition and obtaining regulatory approvals, which precede the
construction phase of each project and are not reflected in this measure.  
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By measuring the construction progress on major water management projects, Infrastructure and
Transportation is able to demonstrate its ability to successfully complete these important water
management projects which helps to ensure the province is able to meet its water management
objectives.
This Progress on Completion of Major Water Management Construction Projects measure
supports Core Business 1 and Goal 1 from the Infrastructure and Transportation published
2007-10 Business Plan. This measure links to Goal 10 of the Government of Alberta 2007-10
Strategic Business Plan.
Infrastructure and Transportation works with Alberta Environment to provide quality water
management facilities and a secure water supply for municipal, domestic, agriculture, industry,
recreation and other purposes. Such projects include dams and reservoirs, and canals. Some
of the works include construction of flood management and erosion control measures, such
as dykes and bank armouring. The total budget for 2007-08 was $22 million, including land,
engineering and construction. However, additional resources were provided which increased the
available funds to $29.56 million, a 34 per cent increase.
The methodology for calculating the performance measure was revised during 2006-07 to reflect
the changing construction environment. Instead of tracking dollars spent, the measure is now
calculated by tracking the number of kilometres of canal rehabilitated and the number of related
structure sub-components replaced out of the total scope of the project implementation program.
This measure is monitored throughout the year by tracking construction contracts issued. The
final results for the measure are based on the actual construction completed during the fiscal
year, as reported by the engineering consultants and verified by Infrastructure and Transportation
staff.
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The primary trends that could impact the outcome of this particular measure include regulatory
changes at the federal level, lack of construction industry capacity, weather, and the ability
of the contractors to meet the project schedule. Such trends are monitored very closely and
adjustments made as needed.
Government Owned and Operated Facilities
1.d Energy Consumption per Square Metre in Government Owned and Operated Facilities
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Infrastructure and Transportation monitors the annual energy efficiency (natural gas and
electricity) of government-owned buildings operated by Infrastructure and Transportation.
The Ministry is responsible for effectively managing all owned facilities to support the delivery
of government programs. This includes monitoring energy usage on an ongoing basis and
identifying and implementing energy saving initiatives to achieve the cost and environmental
benefits associated with reduced energy consumption.
This measure ties to Core Business 1 and Goal 1 from the Infrastructure and Transportation
published 2007-10 Business Plan.  Energy Consumption per Square Metre in Government
Owned and Operated Facilities measure links to Goal 4 of the Government of Alberta 2007-10
Strategic Business Plan.
The measure indicates how effectively the Ministry is managing energy and associated costs in
government-owned buildings using a simple formula: the total annual energy consumption for all
buildings divided by the buildings’ total gross square metres.
Energy consumption data for over 1,000 gas and electricity sites is provided by various
retailers during the year and entered into the Energy Consumption Reporting System. The
data is validated, converted from gigajoules and kilowatt-hours into megajoules, and totalled
for all buildings. The gas total is adjusted using monthly actual and normal degree data from
Environment Canada to compensate for weather variations. To calculate the measure, the total
weather-adjusted consumption is divided by the total square metres based on building areas
reported by the Building and Land Information Management System (BLIMS).
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The improved result for 2007-08 is primarily attributable to the addition in August 2007 of the new
122,000 square metre Calgary Courts Centre, which was designed to meet the energy efficiency
standards for Leadership in Energy and Environmental Design (LEED) Silver buildings.
This measure is affected by several factors that may vary annually including changes to the
inventory of owned buildings, changes to building usage and occupancy levels, and climate
variations.  As potential energy saving measures are identified and implemented, there will be
fewer opportunities to improve energy performance through conservation measures alone.

Results
1.e Average Operating Cost per Square Metre of Government Owned
and Operated Office Space
Percentage of Operating Cost
Compared to Industry Average

••
•
•
•
•
•
•
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This measure compares the average annual operating cost of rentable square metres of office
space in government-owned facilities operated by Infrastructure and Transportation with the
Alberta industry average. The Ministry’s target is to keep the average operating cost per rentable
square metre of office space below 80 per cent of the industry average.
The Ministry is responsible for effective management of all owned facilities to support the delivery
of provincial government programs. This includes incorporating industry best practices to control
costs and maintain the value of building infrastructure. Cost comparisons against industry
averages, in total and for specific maintenance functions, allow the Ministry to identify and
respond to areas of concern and identify opportunities for cost-effective improvements.
This measure ties to Core Business 1 and Goal 1 of the Infrastructure and Transportation
published 2007-10 Business Plan.  Average Operating Cost per Square Metre of Ministry-Owned
and Operated Office Space measure links to Goal 4 of the Government of Alberta 2007-10
Strategic Business Plan.
The average operating cost per square metre of $110.13 for Government is 76 per cent that of
the $143.97 industry average cost. This exceeds Government’s target of an average cost below
80 per cent. While the average cost increased over the 2006-07 year, the percentage compared
to industry improved by five per cent – from 81 per cent to 76 per cent – and is consistent with
previous years.
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Average Operating Cost
Compared to Industry Average
143.97

Cost per Square Metre ($)

160
140
120

126.22

120.98

112.66

102.42

91.44

89.63

91.58

110.13
91.49

100

Industry
Average
Cost

80

Alberta
Government
Average
Cost

60
40
20
0

2003-04

2004-05

2005-06

2006-07

2007-08

Year

The measure is based on the methodology used in a survey conducted by Building Owners
and Managers Association (BOMA) International of facilities management practices in eight
office buildings in Alberta.  The survey determines the average cost of building operations
using established criteria. Areas excluded from the rentable space calculation include interior
parking, elevator/mechanical shafts and external walls.  Expenses included in the calculation
are administration, caretaking, grounds, security/safety, routine building maintenance, utilities,
insurance and grants in place of taxes.
This methodology is used to determine the average operating cost per square metre for 71
Government-owned office buildings using data from various systems.  The result is compared to
the Alberta industry average for the building included in the BOMA survey.
Inflationary pressures in the industry directly affect this measure, such as utility and contract cost
increases and other costs required to maintain aging infrastructure.

Core Business 2:

Safe, accessible and connected communities.

Specific Ministry programs linked to this core business include Provincial Highway Systems,
Provincial Highway Maintenance, and Rehabilitation, Transportation Safety Services, the
Transportation Safety Board, and the Strategic Economic Corridor Investment Initiative.
Financial Resources
(thousands of dollars)
Planned Spending (Estimates)
Total Authorized
Actual Spending in 2007-08
Actual Spending in 2006-07

Operating
Expense
428,293
428,293
413,104
385,631

Capital
Investment
1,334,345
1,557,329
1,328,194
771,281

When taking the Operating Expense and Capital Investment Votes together, the total
under-expenditure of $21.3 million relative to planned 2007-08 spending is primarily due to fewer
designations of provincial highways to municipalities and capital investment funding reprofiled
from 2007-08 to 2008-09 resulting in less funding required for amortization.
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The overall net increase of $584.4 million in spending in 2007-08 compared to 2006-07 is
primarily due to commencement of construction in 2007-08 for the Northeast Stoney Trail Ring
Road in Calgary, one-time funding approved for highway projects in resource development areas
and due to a recent decision to capitalize certain highway rehabilitation projects.

Goal 2 – Provide a safe, secure and reliable provincial transportation network.
Strategic Approach
2.1 Implement strategies to improve the transportation network to support economic
growth in areas such as the Regional Municipality of Wood Buffalo and the Grande
Prairie region.
2.2 Continue the development of access routes and inter-modal trade corridors
to better connect Alberta shippers to the United States and other world
markets, including continued progress on the North-South Trade Corridor and
implementation of the Provincial Freeway Corridor Management Plan.
2.3 Continue to plan, design and construct the ring roads in Calgary and Edmonton.
2.4 Renew the partnership with Transport Infrastructure and Communities Canada to
ensure the transportation of dangerous goods is safe and secure within Alberta.
2.5 Improve highway safety through Intelligent Transportation Systems, including
Automated Vehicle Identification to support safe commercial vehicle operators.
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Results
zz Updated the Strategic and Long Range Plans including strategies to improve the

zz

•
•
•
•

zz
zz

zz

zz

transportation network to support economic growth in areas such as the Regional
Municipality of Wood Buffalo and the Grande Prairie region.
Spent $75 million in the Regional Municipality of Wood Buffalo to improve the
transportation network through projects such as the twinning of Highway 63 south
of Fort McMurray.  Also in the area, construction started on a new, five-lane bridge
across the Athabasca River that will become the largest bridge in Alberta when
completed. The project will cost $127 million and is entirely funded by the province.
Invested $45 million in the Grande Prairie area to improve the highway network
through projects such as the twinning of Highway 2 north of Grande Prairie.
Completed most of the twinning of Highway 43 between Edmonton and Grande
Prairie. Highway 43 forms the northwest leg of Alberta’s North-South Trade Corridor
and runs 432 kilometres from its junction with Highway 16 west of Edmonton to
Grande Prairie. The Alberta government has invested $1.3 billion to develop the
North-South Trade Corridor since 1998, including $566 million since 1998 to twin
Highway 43.
Completed construction on the South Edmonton Ring Road, opening an 11-kilometre
freeway to reduce traffic congestion in the southeast.  The South Edmonton Ring
Road is Alberta’s first completed Public-Private Partnership (P3) highway project.  
Highlights include: 20 bridge structures, using five interchanges and no traffic
lights, and is part of $800 million that the Alberta government has contributed to the
southeast and southwest portions of the Anthony Henday Drive.
Continued planning for future completion of the Edmonton and Calgary Ring Roads
with functional planning studies completed for both North Edmonton and South East
Calgary Ring Roads.
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zz Collaborated with Transport Canada to renegotiate the Canada-Alberta agreement

on the Transportation of Dangerous Goods to ensure that the transportation
of dangerous goods is safe and secure within Alberta. A new memorandum of
understanding was signed by both parties that greatly enhances the federally
delegated powers of the department dangerous goods inspectors and addresses
prior jurisdictional issues.

zz Partnered with the Alberta Motor Transport Association to establish the Partners
in Compliance Program and installed an Automated Vehicle Identiﬁcation
Identification bypass
system, which allows for a full bypass of vehicle inspection stations for carriers
with excellent safety practices.
Member carriers are required to ﬁle
practices.  Member
file less recurring
documents and are subject to fewer audits as a result.

zz Partnered with both the Government of Canada and provincial government of
Saskatchewan to conduct a pilot project on the use of unmanned scale facilities at
the Macklin site in Saskatchewan.

Performance Measures
Infrastructure and Transportation utilized three measures to indicate how well it achieved Goal 2
in 2007-08.
Provincial Highways
2.a Functional Adequacy of Provincial Highways
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Percentage of Provincial Highways
Functionally Adequate
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This measure indicates the percentage of provincial highways that meet target criteria for
functional adequacy.
A provincial highway is functionally adequate if the roadway meets
adequacy.  A
acceptable width standards, has horizontal curves that allow normal travel speeds, has a paved
surface where required, is free of road bans, and has had ﬁnal
final paving completed as planned.
The functional adequacy measure was established to ensure that the existing highway network
is upgraded where necessary to meet standards so that the public can travel safely. It also has
components that consider truck trafﬁc
traffic restrictions and the timely completion of staged pavements.
The Functional Adequacy of Provincial Highways measure is linked with Core Business 2 and
Goal 2 from the Infrastructure and Transportation Published 2007-10 Business Plan.

•
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The results for 2007-08 indicate that 81.1 per cent of provincial highways are functionally
adequate, as represented above.
The functional deficiencies for 2007-08 compared to 2006-07 are summarized below:
2006-07
Percentage
Road Bans
13.8
Width
4.3
Geometrics
2.9
Surface Type
1.0
Final Paving
3.2
Total
25.2
Duplicate Segments
-4.6
Functional Deficiency
20.6

2007-08
Percentage
Road Bans
12.3
Width
4.4
Geometrics
2.9
Surface Type
0.8
Final Paving
2.2
Total
22.6
Duplicate Segments
-3.7
Functional Deficiency
18.9

The total percentage of highways with deficiencies will be less than the sum of the above
individual deficiencies.  This is because certain segments have deficiencies in more than one
area.  For 2006 results, the difference between the sum of deficiencies and the total deficiency
was 4.6 per cent. For 2007 results, this value is 3.7 per cent.
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Road Ban deficiencies are significantly decreased from 13.8 per cent to 12.3 per cent, because of
2006-07 road improvement projects and good weather conditions.
Width and Geometric deficiencies are essentially unchanged from 2006-07.
Surface Type and Final Paving deficiencies are decreased from 2006-07, because of paving
projects.
Functional adequacy is calculated by preparing an inventory of the various segments of highway
that have deficiencies for any of the above factors, based on the Ministry’s standards and
practices.  If a section of highway has a deficiency due to any of the factors, it is considered
functionally inadequate.  The percentage of the highway network that meets target criteria for
functional adequacy is the total length of roadway minus the total length of roadway with a
deficiency, divided by the total length of roadway, multiplied by 100.  The methodology and data
sources for each of the component factors are discussed below.
Width Deficiencies
Data on existing road widths is obtained from the Ministry’s Pavement Management System.
The acceptable road width for each highway is determined using the resurfacing, rehabilitation,
restoration, and reconstruction (3R/4R) chapter of the Ministry’s Highway Geometric Design
Guide.  Actual width and acceptable width are then compared to determine whether a deficiency
exists.
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Geometric Deficiencies
Geometric deficiencies are based on horizontal curve geometrics, using alignment data collected
by consultants.  This data is compared to requirements in the Ministry’s Highway Geometric
Design Guide to arrive at deficiencies.  
Surface Type Deficiencies
A traffic volume of 400 vehicles per day and the provincial highway paving list on strategic roads
are used to determine the need for a paved surface, and subsequently to identify deficiencies
where the criterion is not met.  Consultants collected traffic volume data and existing surface
types are derived from the Ministry’s internal Pavement Management System.
Final Paving Deficiencies
The final paving deficiencies are determined based on whether final paving has been completed
as planned or not.  The required timing of final paving is determined by the traffic volume on the
highway.
A deficiency analysis was conducted for every kilometre of the paved provincial highway network.
Road Bans
Road ban information for provincial highways is obtained using internal data sources. The
Ministry monitors the need for road bans on the provincial highway system. As road bans are
issued they are entered into an internal database, which is updated as the status of road bans
changes for particular highways.
The analysis is done for every kilometre of provincial highway.
Rapid population growth within Alberta has meant more development occurring and urban areas
expanding.  Roads that carry increased traffic because they are located near, or provide access
to, new developments may no longer be rated functionally adequate because the road is too
narrow or not adequate for other reasons for the increased traffic levels.  This leads to safety
concerns.
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2.b Construction Progress on the North-South Trade Corridor

86.3
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This measure is the percentage (urban and rural) of the North-South Trade Corridor that is
twinned and open to travel. The corridor extends from Coutts at the Alberta-United States border
to the British Columbia border west of Grande Prairie, connecting Alberta to the Alaska Highway.
It consists of approximately 1,170 kilometres of highway, of which nearly 100 kilometres are within
various city limits.
The North-South Trade Corridor forms part of the Canada/America/Mexico (CANAMEX) Corridor
linking the three countries and stretching from Anchorage, Alaska to Mexico City, Mexico. The
goals of the CANAMEX Corridor are to improve the north-south flow of goods and people;
increase transport productivity and reduce transport costs; promote a seamless and efficient intermodal transport system; and reduce administrative and enforcement costs through harmonized
regulations.  Alberta’s North-South Trade Corridor is a key component of the CANAMEX Corridor
and is vital to the efficient movement of goods across the Canada-United States border at Coutts.
On a national scale, as trade with the United States and Mexico continues to grow, the trucking
industry must be able to respond to the demands of the growing economy. Continued economic
viability depends largely on Alberta’s ability to respond to demands generated by the opening of
new markets, just-in-time manufacturing and retailing, and e-business. Continued twinning of
the North-South Trade Corridor will enhance the traveling public’s safety while reducing costs for
the trucking industry through time savings. Measuring completion of North-South Trade Corridor
twinning demonstrates the continued development of major trade routes.
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Alberta Infrastructure and Transportation has completed twinning 90.4 per cent of the NorthSouth Trade Corridor and has thus met the target of 88.0 per cent.
The measure is based on construction project and highway network data. Percentage is
calculated by totalling the number of kilometres twinned and open to travel versus the total
kilometres of the corridor (1,170 kilometres).

•

Completion of the North-South Trade Corridor remains a priority. However, projects along this
corridor require continued prioritization against other strategic initiatives such as the Calgary and
Edmonton Ring Roads.

•

2.c Ring Roads in Edmonton and Calgary
Percentage of Ring Roads Open to Travel
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This measure indicates the percentage of ring roads in Edmonton and Calgary open to multilane travel. The total corridor length consists of approximately 99 kilometres in Calgary and 80
kilometres in Edmonton.
The development of ring roads in the province’s two major metropolitan areas is of paramount
importance to economic development in the province and to ensure efficient and effective
transportation systems in these two cities.
At the end of 2007-08, 36.4 per cent of the ring roads were open to travel as multi-lane facilities,
compared to the target of 30.0 per cent.
Sustained high oil prices and market conditions such as labour shortages could contribute to
increased costs for material and labour. Increased economic and population growth in the
Edmonton-Calgary Corridor have raised expectations for alternate routes sooner to avoid traffic
congestion and enable goods to quickly reach their market destination.
Alternative methods of financing, such as public-private partnerships, are being used so that
construction of facilities like ring roads in major metropolitan centers can be expedited.

Goal 3 – Deliver safety-focused transportation education and enforcement programs.
Strategic Approach
3.1 Continue to implement Alberta’s Traffic Safety Plan to reduce fatalities and injuries
on Alberta roadways, which supports Road Safety Vision 2010, Canada’s national
road safety strategy, to meet national goals and make Alberta’s roads safer.
3.2 Continue implementation of the Graduated Driver Licensing Program to enhance
the safety skills of new drivers.
3.3 Improve highway safety by implementing enhanced elements to the National Driver
Licensing Reciprocity Agreement, including implementing the Canadian Driver
Licence Agreement.
3.4 Ensure commercial vehicle safety through mandated periodic inspection and onhighway inspection programs.
3.5 Employ innovative approaches to monitor, enforce and manage truck weight,
dimension and safety practices on provincial highways, such as the National Safety
Code and the Progressive Discipline Program.
Results
zz Updated the long range strategic highway plan to address future needs in support of

economic development.
zz Finalized a three-year Traffic Safety action-plan and established Office of Traffic
Safety and key positions filled including Director of Community Mobilization and
Director of Policy, Research and Public Education.
zz Developed a Community Mobilization Strategy for the Alberta Traffic Safety Plan
(ATSP) to increase the capacity for shared planning within Alberta communities with
respect to implementing the objectives of the ATSP.
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zz Developed and created a pilot program for a Professional Driver certification through

zz

zz
zz

zz

zz
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the partnership of Transportation Training and Development Association and Red
Deer College.
Implemented electronic driver knowledge tests in conjunction with registry agencies
to replace written tests for new drivers and people applying for other licence classes.
The tests provide randomly selected test questions from a large pool of questions,
ensuring every driver takes a different test. Electronic driver knowledge tests are
available at all registry agent offices across the province.
Completed an evaluation of the Alberta Graduated Driver Licensing Program and the
recommendations are being generated for review.
Worked towards the implementation of the Canadian Driver Licence Agreement,
which aims to have one driver, one licence and one record in North America which
enhances driver licensing standards, card and identification security and reciprocity.
Increased effectiveness of officer intervention for commercial vehicles dramatically
through operational deployment of the Thermal Eye imaging unit. The Thermal Eye
unit can determine whether a vehicle should be stopped based on specific heat
patterns that indicate brake failure and other wheel and tire-related issues like underinflated tires.  Currently there are three units operating throughout Alberta.
Implemented and deployed a Mobile Communication System including over 100
mobile communication units and applications for use by department commercial
vehicle enforcement inspectors.

Performance Measures:
Infrastructure and Transportation utilized three measures to indicate how well it achieved Goal 3
in 2007-08.
Seat Belts
3.a Percentage of vehicle occupants wearing seat belts – Alberta
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This measure describes the percentage of seat belt use for light duty vehicles in the province. A
comparison with national results is also included.
This goal supports Core Business 2, and Goal 3 from the Infrastructure and Transportation
published 2007-10 Business Plan. The Ministry continually promotes the use of seat belts as one
of its many strategies to improve safety in Alberta. By tracking seat belt usage, compliance rates
can be identified and further analysis conducted, to determine methods of improvement.  This
measure links to Goal 7 of the Government of Alberta 2007-10 Strategic Business Plan.
A survey of seat belt use in urban areas was conducted in the fall of 2007 by Transport Canada
and the results were combined with the results of the Transport Canada fall 2006 rural survey.
Alberta’s combined urban/rural survey results for 2007 stand at 88.9 per cent compared to 90.9
per cent in 2006. The Ministry’s target is to reach compliance rates of 95 per cent by 2010,
matching Canada’s national target.
Transport Canada collects seat belt usage data through annual surveys on light duty vehicles,
including passenger cars, passenger vans and light trucks in all provinces. Light duty vehicles do
not include commercial vans or large trucks, farm equipment, or vehicles which are not equipped
with and do not require seat belts (e.g. vintage automobiles).
The September 2006 and September 2007 surveys measured the seat belt usage separately in
rural Canada and urban Canada. Rural Canada includes towns with a population of fewer than
10,000 but more than 1,000 inhabitants that are located outside any census metropolitan area
or census agglomeration. Urban Canada includes communities with a population over 10,000,
plus those communities with a population of less than 10,000 that are located within a census
metropolitan area.
The rural survey, which occurred over the week of September 15 to 21, 2006, involved 249 sites
and a total of 41,137 vehicles and 60,616 occupants were observed during the course of the
survey. The urban survey, which was conducted over the week of September 15 to 21, 2007,
involved two separate observation periods at each of 270 sites. A total of 92,440 vehicles and
121,986 occupants were observed during the course of the study. Therefore, during the two
surveys, a total of 133,577 vehicles and 182,602 occupants were observed at 519 sites across
Canada.
For combined rural and urban data, the margin of error was plus or minus 0.3 per cent as the 95
per cent level of confidence.
The growing population and increasing number of licensed vehicle operators exerts pressure on
Alberta to continue improving strategies advocating the benefits of wearing seat belts.
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Percentage of Vehicle Occupants Wearing Seat Belts
		
2003(1)
2004
2005(2)
2006
2007(6)
Canada					
92.5
Rural & Urban Combined
87.4		
90.5
90.8(3)
Rural Only		
86.9		
88.3
Alberta					
Rural & Urban Combined
84.9		
82.9
90.9(4)
88.9
Rural Only		
82.4		
86.4(5)
1. Survey results for 2003 are for front seat occupants only. Surveys after 2003
include all vehicle occupants. Combined results from Transport Canada 2002
rural and 2003 urban survey.
2. Combined results from Transport Canada 2004 rural and 2005 urban survey.
3. Combined results from Transport Canada 2005 urban and 2006 rural survey.
4. Combined results from Transport Canada 2006 rural survey and Alberta 2006
urban survey.
5. Result from Transport Canada 2006 rural survey.
6. Combined results from Transport Canada 2006 rural and 2007 urban survey.
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Involvement of Drinking Drivers in Casualty Collisions
3.b.i Involvement of drivers in injury collisions who were drinking
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This measure indicates the percentage of vehicle operators in injury collisions in Alberta who
were judged to have consumed alcohol before the collision.
In support of Core Business 3 and Goal 3 from the Infrastructure and Transportation published
2007-10 Business Plan, the Ministry continued its efforts to educate drivers about the dangers
of drinking and driving. This measure indicates the percentage of drivers involved in casualty
collisions who had consumed alcohol before the collision. This measure links to Goal 7 of the
Government of Alberta 2007-10 Strategic Business Plan.
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During the reporting period, there were a total of 25,132 drivers involved in casualty collisions
in the Province of Alberta for whom a driver condition was specified
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form.
Of these,
perofcent
of drivers
whoinvolved
were involved
in collisions
injury collisions
were judged
Of
these,
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The Graduated Driver Licensing Program introduced on May 20, 2003, includes a zero alcohol
tolerance provision which continues while a driver is in either the learner or probationary
category. This reinforces Alberta’s position against impaired driving. There have been 2,411
Alberta zero alcohol tolerance (AZAT) suspensions initiated between May 2003 and March 2008.
Data for this measure was taken from the Ministry’s Alberta Collision Information System. The
results for the measure are based on a calendar year. Drivers involved in casualty collisions
resulting in either injury or fatality are included in the results. Driver condition data is compiled
from collision reports completed by the attending law enforcement officer.  Drinking drivers
3.b.ii Involvement of drivers in fatal collisions who were drinking
are those who, in the officer’s judgment, have consumed alcohol prior to the collision.  Driver
condition includes ‘normal,’ ‘had been drinking,’ ‘alcohol impaired,’ ‘impaired by drugs’ and
‘fatigued/asleep’.  Driver condition was unspecified for 6,644 drivers involved in casualty
collisions and this is not included in the results.
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Province of Alberta for whom a driver condition was speciﬁed
Results
19
Of these, 22.3 per cent of drivers who were involved in fatal collisions were judged to have
consumed18
alcohol prior to the collision. This compares to the target of 18.9 per cent. This ﬁgure
decreased 0.4 percentage points over the prior year’s results.
17
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This measure represents the percentage of a random sample of commercial vehicles that have
been rendered out-of-service when inspected at roadside checks by Ministry staff.
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In this sample, seven random inspections were conducted at each of 64 sites across Alberta
between
June
and December
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total number
of vehicles
was 448.
The
primary
programs
linked to2007.
this core
include
Leases,inspected
Land Services,
Capital and

Accommodation Projects, Municipal Support Programs, Infrastructure Planning, and Natural Gas
Continued economic growth and the need to get goods to market means more commercial
Rebates.
traffic on Alberta’s highway system.  Just-in-time marketing and congestion at west coast ports
also contribute to suppliers shipping their goods by truck rather than utilizing other modes, such
as rail. Public awareness of road safety issues continues to put pressure on government to
Financial
Resources
Operating
Capital
continually
improve
its monitoring of commercial carrier
traffic.  
(thousands of dollars)
Expense
Investment
Planned Spending (Estimates)
1,946,064
114,591
Authorized 3: Strong stakeholder partnerships.
1,946,064
46,017
CoreTotal
Business
Actual Spending in 2007-08
1,813,305
62,853
Actual
Spending
in
2006-07
1,668,639
86,326 Capital and
The primary programs linked to this core business include Leases, Land Services,
Accommodation Projects, Municipal Support Programs, Infrastructure Planning, and Natural Gas
Rebates.
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The total under-expenditure of $184.5 million relative to planned spending is primarily due to
Financial
Resources
Operating
Capital
lower natural
gas prices
resulting in reduced rebate payments.
(thousands of dollars)
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(Estimates)
1,946,064
114,591
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1,946,064 and Calgary to
46,017
primarily Total
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in and
2007-08
1,813,305
62,853
fuel salesActual
and priority
water
wastewater infrastructure
projects.
Actual Spending in 2006-07
1,668,639
86,326
The total under-expenditure of $184.5 million relative to planned spending is primarily due to
Goal 4 – Support for local infrastructure.
lower natural gas prices resulting in reduced rebate payments.
Strategic Approach
The overall net increase of $121.2 million in spending in 2007-08 compared to 2006-07 is
4.1 Assist municipalities with water supply, water treatment, and wastewater treatment
primarily due to additional grants being provided to Edmonton and Calgary to address increased
and disposal facilities through the provision of funding under the Water for Life
fuel sales and priority water and wastewater infrastructure projects.
Strategy, including the Alberta Municipal Water/Wastewater Partnership Program
and an enhanced Regional Water and Wastewater Partnership Initiative.
4.2 Continue to provide grant funding to assist Alberta municipalities with developing
Goal 4 – Support
for local infrastructure.
and upgrading infrastructure through the Alberta Municipal Infrastructure Program,
Basic Capital Grant, Cities Special Transportation Grant, the Streets Improvement
Strategic Approach
Program and the Rural Transportation Partnership.
4.1
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with Road
water Program
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villages that experience resource and new industry-based trafﬁc.
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and
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and
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Initiative.
Communities program, and provide grant funding for the Infrastructure
Canada4.2 Alberta
Continue
to
provide
grant
funding
to
assist
Alberta
municipalities
with developing
Program and the Canada-Alberta Municipal Rural Infrastructure
Fund.
and upgrading infrastructure through the Alberta Municipal Infrastructure Program,
Basic Capital Grant, Cities Special Transportation Grant, the Streets Improvement
Results
Program and the Rural Transportation Partnership.
 Provided funding to municipalities and projects initiated in support for the
4.3 Administer the Resource Road Program to assist rural municipalities, towns and
government’s Water for Life Strategy.
villages that experience resource and new industry-based traffic.
 Supported development of both stand-alone and regional municipal water and
4.4 Continue to administer grant funding under the New Deal for Cities and
wastewater systems with funding of $106 million. The Regional Water and
Communities program, and provide grant funding for the Infrastructure CanadaWastewater Partnership Initiative funds 90 per cent of the capital cost of building
Alberta Program and the Canada-Alberta Municipal Rural Infrastructure Fund.
regional municipal water and wastewater pipelines. The Initiative is part of the overall
Water for Life Strategy and includes 100 per cent funding for engineering feasibility
Results
studies for regional systems, plant expansions for “hub” suppliers required to serve
zz new
Provided
funding
to municipalities
and projects
initiated
in support
for the
regional
customers,
and for expanding
pipeline
capacity
to serve
future regional
government’s
Water
Life Strategy.
customers.
This
is infor
addition
to regular Alberta Municipal Water and Wastewater
grants.
zz Partnership
Supported development
of both stand-alone and regional municipal water and
wastewaterthe
systems
funding of $106
million.
Regional
Water
annualwith
transportation
funding
in theThe
Cities
of Calgary
andand
Edmonton
 Continued
Wastewater
Initiative
90 per
cent their
of thecities.
capital
cost of building
based
on ﬁvePartnership
cents per litre
of fuelfunds
delivered
within
Approximately
$175
regionalwas
municipal
water
wastewater
pipelines.
is partprojects.
of the overall
million
allocated
to aand
variety
of high priority
roadThe
andInitiative
public transit
Water for $44
Life million
Strategy
includes
per and
centCity
funding
for engineering
feasibility
 Provided
in and
Basic
Capital100
Grants
Special
Transportation
studies
for
regional
systems,
plant
expansions
for
“hub”
suppliers
required
to serve
Grants to 16 cities and urban service areas (excluding Calgary and Edmonton)
for
new
regional
customers,
and
for
expanding
pipeline
capacity
to
serve
future
regional
transportation capital projects.
customers.the
This
is in addition
regular Alberta
Municipal
Water and
Wastewater
 Continued
ﬁve-year
AlbertatoMunicipal
Infrastructure
Program
providing
$652
Partnership
grants.
million in 2007-08 to 361 municipalities for a variety of road, public transit, water/
zz wastewater,
Continued the
annual transportation
in the Cities
of Calgary
and Edmonton
emergency
services, andfunding
other capital
municipal
infrastructure
projects.
based on five cents per litre of fuel delivered within their cities.  Approximately $175
million was allocated to a variety of high priority road and public transit projects.
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Improvement
322 towns, villages,
zz Provided $27
$44 million in Street
Basic Capital
GrantsProgram
and City grants
SpecialtoTransportation


zz

zz

zz

zz
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zz Provided $7.1 million in Provincial funding under the Canada-Alberta Municipal

Rural Infrastructure Fund (CAMRIF). This program runs from 2006-12 and provides

funds
to municipalities for a variety of water, wastewater, transportation, solid
Performance
Measures

recreation, cultural,
tourism,
energyto
efficiency
and connectivity
Infrastructurewaste,
and Transportation
utilized
one measure
indicate improvement,
how well
projects. The
total commitment for this program is $321 million and is cost-shared
Goal 4 was achieved
in 2007-08.
equally between the Federal, Provincial, and Municipal governments.

Performance
Measures
Municipal
Client Satisfaction
Infrastructure
and Transportation
utilized one measure to indicate how well
4.a
Client Satisfaction
Survey (Municipal)
Goal 4 was achieved in 2007-08.
Percentage of Municipal
Clients Satisfied With Quality of Service.
Municipal Client Satisfaction
Municipal Client Satisfaction
97
96 > 95
95
4.a Client Satisfaction
100
92 Survey (Municipal)
85

Municipal Client Satisfaction

Satisfaction
Level Level
Percentage
Satisfaction
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Infrastructure and Transportation strives to foster an organization where clients consistently
experience positive outcomes when interacting with the Ministry. To measure the satisfaction
of clients with services provided by the Ministry, Infrastructure and Transportation conducts a
municipal client satisfaction survey every two years.
This measure provides an overall indication of municipal clients’ satisfaction with the services
provided by Ministry staff. Results and information derived from the survey are considered in
the Ministry’s planning cycle to address and improve the satisfaction of clients in the future. The
Ministry’s commitment to providing quality service to clients is illustrated by the overall results.
The Municipal Quality of Service Client Satisfaction Survey measure links to Core Business 3
“Strong stakeholder partnerships” and Goal 4 “Support for local infrastructure” of Infrastructure
and Transportation’s published 2007-10 Business Plan. This measure links to Goal 10 of the
Government of Alberta 2007-10 Strategic Business Plan.
The client satisfaction survey monitors the satisfaction of municipal clients with management of
municipal grant programs, including, the administration of grant applications and payments and
clarification of policy and eligibility criteria.  Respondents were asked to rate their satisfaction
when answering the question, “Looking back to 2007, how satisfied were you with overall quality
of service?” with respect to the management of municipal grant programs. In 2007, municipal
client satisfaction was 96 per cent, which met the 2007 target of 95 per cent and is a decrease of
one per cent over the 2005 result of 97 per cent. On average, the results are accurate within plus
or minus 5.2 per cent, 19 times out of 20.
To allow sufficient time for the Ministry to develop and implement strategies to effectively deal
with the results of the client satisfaction survey, the survey is conducted every second calendar
year with the next survey planned for January 2010 to report on the 2009 calendar year.
The measure is reported as the percentage of municipal clients satisfied with overall quality
of service, that is all client providing a response of “somewhat satisfied”, “satisfied” and “very
satisfied”. An external consultant was engaged to undertake this survey, thereby ensuring the
confidentiality of individual results.     
The 2007 client satisfaction survey was delivered by mail to 321 municipal clients with
subsequent telephone follow up. Municipal clients are defined as organizations that have
interacted with Ministry staff regarding municipal grant programs in the 2007 calendar year and
primarily include municipalities and towns. There were a total of 167 surveys completed and
returned for a response rate of 53 per cent, 10 municipal client contacts were excluded from the
analysis due to incorrect contact information and/or surveys being returned as undeliverable.
The respondents were asked to rate the Municipal Grant Programs Service Area on eight key
service areas, for:

• Clarity of written materials
• Ease of access to information
• Ease of access to services
• Consistency of services

• Timeliness of service delivery
• Proficiency of staff
• Courtesy of staff
• Overall quality of services
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On average, the results are accurate within plus or minus 5.2 per cent, 19 times out of 20.
Although the level of client satisfaction for all service areas remains high, the decrease from the
previous survey is marginal and may be attributed more to statistical variance than any other
factor. Several grants for municipalities have increased since the 2005 survey, such as the New
Deal for Cities and Communities. Programs such as the Alberta Municipal Infrastructure Program
remained unchanged, however, above average inflation and high cost escalation have somewhat
diminished their value compared to 2005.

Goal 5 – Provide technical expertise, project management and support services.
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Strategic Approach
5.1 Work with program ministries, school boards, post-secondary institutions and
health regions in updating long-term capital plans by providing expertise in areas
such as life-cycle costing, new technologies, design standards, and detailed project
costing.
5.2 Work with other ministries to deliver approved school, health and post-secondary
projects.
5.3 Support the planning of facility requirements to ensure effective delivery of health
and education programs in Alberta by monitoring and reporting the physical
condition of existing schools, health facilities and post-secondary institutions.
5.4 Develop and implement accommodation master plans for Red Deer, Lethbridge
and Grande Prairie to meet priority facility program needs for government
programs.
5.5 Continue to plan, develop and administer the Edmonton and Calgary
Transportation and Utility Corridors.
Results
zz Initiated development of a new Cost Planning and Monitoring Program, aimed at

streamlining in areas of project identification, risk and needs assessments, and
project monitoring. The new program was piloted with several school boards and
further development continues with stakeholders.
zz Developed standard core school designs for three sizes of elementary schools (300,
450 and 600 capacity), and for two sizes of K-9 schools (600 and 900 capacity),
with Alberta Education and school board representatives. The schools are designed
to meet Leadership in Energy and Environment Design (LEED) Silver level of a
sustainable design and construction standard administered by the Canada Green
Building Council. Use of core school designs reduces design and construction time,
and streamlines project implementation.
zz Provided technical and costing advice on all supported projects underway during the
2007-08 fiscal year, including 147 schools, 50 health facility projects, and 40 postsecondary projects.
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zz Collaborated with Alberta Education, Alberta Justice and Attorney General, Alberta

zz

zz

zz

zz
zz

zz

Finance and Enterprise and Ministry of Treasury Board, to lead the technical task
team to implement the Alberta Schools Alternative Procurement (ASAP) project.  This
is the first of its kind for Alberta, wherein a public private partnership will be used to
provide 18 new schools – nine each in Edmonton and Calgary, by September 2010.
The private partner will finance, construct and maintain the facilities for 30 years.  
The schools will utilize newly developed core school designs to enhance flexibility
and ensure faster implementation than traditional methods.
Completed facility evaluations of 278 schools, 33 post-secondary buildings, and
six health facilities. This information supports capital planning by identifying major
maintenance and capital renewal needs in supported facilities.
Commenced the rollout of the Building and Land Information Management System
(BLIMS) Evaluations Module to school boards, and undertook pilots with several
health regions. Access to the BLIMS Evaluations Module will allow school boards
to continually identify and update the condition of their facilities, allowing for better
planning of future maintenance and renewal of facilities.
Introduced life-cycle modeling of facility evaluations to capture future maintenance
costs and long term funding for ongoing maintenance of government owned and
supported facilities. This will enhance the ability to make maintenance and budgetary
decisions in the future.
Develop and to meet priority facility program needs for government programs.
Completed development and implementation of accommodation master plans to
support government program delivery needs in Red Deer, Lethbridge and Grande
Prairie.
Administration of the Calgary and Edmonton Transportation and Utility Corridors has
continued with volumes of activity slightly higher than in the previous year. Over 300
ministerial consents were processed along with 90 planning review requests and 168
land disposals and acquisitions completed.
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Infrastructure and Transportation utilized three measures to indicate how well
Goal 5 was achieved in 2007-08.

•

To enhance reporting and enable the Ministry to compare condition ratings across the facility
types (government-owned facilities as well as supported, such as schools, health facilities,
and post-secondary institutions), a facility condition index (FCI) was adopted as a basis for
determining the condition rating of each facility. The FCI is the ratio of the cost to correct current
and future (five year) physical condition deficiencies, relative to current facility replacement
values.
In concert with the Government of Alberta’s Capital Planning Initiative, three measures (“good”,
“fair” and “poor”) were developed to aid in making sound capital funding decisions.
The interpretation of facility condition index (FCI) values for building infrastructure is as follows:

•
•
•
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Condition

Good

Fair

Poor

FCI Deﬁnition
Definition
Facilities with an FCI of less than
15%

CPI Deﬁnition
Definition
Adequate for intended use and expected to
provide continued service life with average
maintenance.

Facilities with an FCI that is equal to
or greater than 15%, or equal to or
less than 40%

Aging components are nearing the end
of their life cycle and require additional
expenditures for renewal or refurbishing.

Facilities with an FCI
of greater than 40%

Upgrading is required to comply with minimum
codes or standards and deterioration has
reached the point where major repairs or
replacement are necessary.

Government Supported Facilities
5.a Health Facilities – Physical Condition
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The health facilities physical condition measure is the percentage of health facilities rated in good,
fair or poor condition, using a Facility Condition Index (FCI).
This measure links to Core Business 3 and Goal 5 “Provide technical expertise, project
management and support services” from Infrastructure and Transportation’s published 200710 Business Plan. The Physical Condition of Health Facilities measure links to Goal 5 of the
Government of Alberta 2007-10 Strategic Business Plan.
The percentage of health facilities in good and fair condition is decreasing, primarily due to aging
of facilities. In 2007-08, 65 per cent of facilities were in good condition, 26 per cent of facilities
were in fair condition, and nine per cent of facilities were in poor condition. This represents
a downward shift from the 2006-07 reporting year, when 67 per cent of facilities were in good
condition, 28 per cent of facilities were in fair condition, and ﬁve
five per cent of facilities were in poor
condition.
Information on physical condition deﬁciencies
deficiencies was obtained through facility evaluations conducted
by professional consultants or qualiﬁed
qualified staff of the health regions. Facility ratings were reviewed
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by Infrastructure and Transportation, in consultation with the health regions, to assess whether
facility assessment information was complete. In cases where facility evaluation data was
incomplete, Infrastructure and Transportation estimated the total physical condition costs.
Current replacement values are determined using factors such as construction type, maintenance
responsibility type, location, and gross building area. Health facility replacement values are
generated and conﬁrmed
confirmed in an annual process that involves Ministry staff, as well as health
region representatives.
A growing percentage of the province’s aging health infrastructure will require major repairs and
renewal of major building components. Major capital preservation projects, if approved, will
address the problem, as will increasing levels of infrastructure maintenance funding.

5.b Schools – Physical Condition
Physical Condition of School Facilities
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This condition measure supports Core Business 3 and Goal 5 “Provide technical expertise,
project management and support services” from Infrastructure and Transportation’s published
2007-10 Business Plan, and assists school boards and the government in their long-term capital
planning. The Physical Condition of Schools measure links to Goal 2 of the Government of
Alberta 2007-10 Strategic Business Plan.
In 2007-08, 69 per cent of schools were in good condition; 27 per cent were in fair condition;
and four per cent were in poor condition. The total of school facilities in good and fair condition
constitutes 96 per cent, one per cent lower than 2006-07. Last year the breakdown was 71 per
cent good, 26 per cent fair and three per cent poor. The target for 2007-08 was 73 per cent good,
25 per cent fair, and two per cent poor, for a total of 98 per cent of school facilities in good and
fair condition.
This measure reports the percentage of total school facilities (by area) in good, fair, and poor
condition using the FCI recorded at the completion of the last re-evaluation.
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The original data set was obtained from condition assessments performed in 1999-2000 of school
facilities owned by school boards and funded by government. It did not include outreach facilities,
and non-school buildings such as maintenance facilities and administration offices.  Private
consultants conducted all assessments. Those facilities with a point rating between 0 and 399
were considered in good condition; those with 400 to 799 points were considered in fair condition;
and those with 800 or more points were considered in poor condition.
Since 2004, Infrastructure and Transportation has been in the process of conducting follow-up
assessments on the original 1999-2000 assessments. The difference in the current approach
from the original assessments is:
zz Staged implementation – rather than evaluating all schools at once in one short
timeframe, schools are being assessed once every five years on a rotational basis.
zz FCI – rather than focusing on reporting a raw score, the FCI is calculated to comply
with the approach used in other facility assessments. Although the end result for an
FCI might differ from the previous approach, it still identifies a “good,” “fair,” and
“poor” rating.
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The FCI calculated is referred to as the Facility Condition Rating (FCR).  This FCR forms the
basis for the physical condition results report. Where an FCR is not yet available, the 19992000 ratings are used.  If the school is less than 10 years old (and there is no FCR available) it
is automatically rated as “good”. In addition, the results report is reviewed by technical experts
within the ministry to reconcile external data and take into account facility modernizations
that have taken place since the last facility condition assessment was undertaken. Facility
assessment data are the result of condition assessments of schools facilities owned by school
boards and funded by the Government of Alberta and do not include outreach facilities. The
Ministry is continuing to review and refine controls for managing facility assessment data provided
by external consultants.
A trend that can impact the condition of school facilities is the continued aging of facilities and the
amount of modernization and preservation funding that is provided to school boards. With limited
resources, prioritization of upgrades must occur among viable schools. As well, the impact of this
funding is not immediately reflected in these measures, due to the time required to implement a
construction/renovation project.
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5.c Post-Secondary Institutions - Physical Condition
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The measure is a percentage of the total facilities at post-secondary institutions rated in good, fair
or poor condition using a Facility Condition Index that compares the total cost of deﬁciencies
deficiencies to
the replacement value of the facility.
The measure directly links to Core Business 3 and Goal 5 from Infrastructure and
Transportation’s published 2007-10 Business Plan. The Physical Condition of
Post-Secondary Institutions measure links to Goal 2 of the Government of Alberta
2007-10 Strategic Business Plan. The performance indicator provides an annual look at how
effectively critical post-secondary infrastructure is maintained.
The percentage of post-secondary institutions in good condition is increasing. In 2007-08,
65 per cent of facilities were in good condition, 25 per cent of facilities were in fair condition, and
10 per cent of facilities were in poor condition. This represents an upward shift from the 2006-07
reporting year, when 60 per cent of facilities were in good condition, 30 per cent of facilities were
in fair condition, and 10 per cent of facilities were in poor condition.
The total cost of deﬁciencies
deficiencies was calculated by taking the estimated cost of remedial work
recommended for the next ﬁve
five years to bring the condition level to acceptable and adjusting it
for factors such as location, contingency and consultant fees. Replacement costs were adjusted
for inﬂation
inflation for facilities where recent information was not available. In 2003-04, the scale was
revised with the intent to apply the same condition scale to all government owned and supported
facilities.
Consultants gathered the original baseline data through a facility condition study completed in
September 2002. Post-secondary institutions are now able to update the information directly into
the evaluation database. This will lead to more accurate and timely condition information in the
future. The Ministry re-evaluates approximately 0.5 million square metres a year on a ﬁve-year
five-year
rotational basis, which serves the dual purpose of both updating the condition information as well
as validating the data entered by the institutions.
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The data assists with establishment of priorities, funding decisions and development of long-term
facility management and capital plans. The boards of institutions and Government of Alberta
jointly share the responsibility for the condition of post-secondary facilities.
In 2007-08, post-secondary institutions opened a significant number of new buildings, resulting
in a large increase in gross square area which is classified as “good”.  Another portion of the
improvement in FCI can be attributed to continued re-classification of recommended remedial
events from maintenance items to functional upgrades. Only maintenance events are included in
the Facility Condition Index.

5.d Client Satisfaction Survey (Boards)

54

••
•
•
•
•
•
•

This measure was developed to assess the level of satisfaction with the quality of service
provided by Infrastructure and Transportation related to health facilities, post-secondary
institutions and schools as perceived by their respective boards. The latest survey results are
for the 2005 calendar year, resulting in an average satisfaction rate of 4.6 which equates to
“somewhat satisfied” on a six-point scale. This is below the 2007-08 target of 5.0. The survey
was to be conducted every two years based on a calendar year, with the next survey planned for
Spring 2008 to provide results for the 2007 calendar year. The Ministry was unable to conduct a
survey that would provide comparable results and is therefore not reporting a 2007 result due to
the factors outlined below.
During 2006-07 the Ministry worked to redefine its roles and responsibilities with the program
ministries of Education, Advanced Education, and Health and Wellness to implement a new
framework of shared responsibility for implementing capital projects which resulted in the
interaction with client boards shifting from Infrastructure and Transportation to these other
ministries.
With the establishment of the new Alberta Health Services provincial health authority on
May 15, 2008 many of the boards that formed the client-base for this measure no longer exist.
This significant change means comparable results could not be derived, therefore the Ministry did
not collect data in our biennial client satisfaction survey to report against this measure.
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55

••
•
•
•
•
•
•

2007-08 Infrastructure and Transportation Annual Report

56

••
•
•
•
•
•
•

2007-08 Infrastructure and Transportation Annual Report

Table of Contents for Financial Statements
Auditor’s Report
Statement of Operations
Statement of Financial Position
Statement of Cash Flows
Notes to the Financial Statements
Schedule 1 Revenuies
Schedule 2 Dedicated Revenue Initiatives
Schedule 3 Expenses - Directly Incurred Detailed by Object
Schedule 4 Budget
Schedule 5 Comparison of Expenses - Directly Incurred, Equipment
and Inventory Purchases (EIP) and Capital Investments and
Statutory Expenses by Element to Authorized Budget
Schedule 6 Salary and Benefits Disclosure
Schedule 7 Related Party Transactions
Schedule 8 Allocated Costs

57

••
•
•
•
•
•
•

2007-08 Infrastructure and Transportation Annual Report

58

••
•
•
•
•
•
•

2007-08 Infrastructure and Transportation Annual Report

59

••
•
•
•
•
•
•

The official version of this Report of the Auditor General, and
the information the Report covers, is in printed form.

Original Signed by Fred J. Dunn, FCA
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Alphabetical List of Entities’ Financial Statements in
Ministry 2007-08 Annual Reports
Entities Included In The Consolidated Government Reporting Entity
Ministry, Department, Fund or Agency

Ministry Annual Report

Access to the Future Fund
Advanced Education and Technology
Agriculture Financial Services Corporation
Agriculture and Food
Alberta Alcohol and Drug Abuse Commission
Health and Wellness
Alberta Cancer Prevention Legacy Fund
Finance
Alberta Capital Finance Authority
Finance
1
Alberta Energy and Utilities Board
Energy
Tourism, Parks, Recreation and Culture
Alberta Foundation for the Arts
Solicitor General and Public Security
Alberta Gaming and Liquor Commission
Alberta Heritage Foundation for Medical Research Endowment 		Finance
Fund
Alberta Heritage Savings Trust Fund
Finance
Alberta Heritage Scholarship Fund
Finance
Alberta Heritage Science and Engineering Research Endowment Finance
Fund
Alberta Historical Resources Foundation
Tourism, Parks, Recreation and Culture
Alberta Insurance Council
Finance
2
Alberta Investment Management Corporation
Finance
Alberta Local Authorities Pension Plan Corporation
Finance
Alberta Pensions Administration Corporation
Finance
Alberta Petroleum Marketing Commission
Energy
Alberta Research Council Inc.
Advanced Education and Technology
Alberta Risk Management Fund
Finance
Alberta School Foundation Fund
Education
Alberta Securities Commission
Finance
Alberta Social Housing Corporation
Municipal Affairs and Housing
Alberta Sport, Recreation, Parks and Wildlife Foundation
Tourism, Parks, Recreation and Culture
Alberta Treasury Branches Alberta Utilities Commission1
Finance Energy
ATB Insurance Advisors Inc.
Finance
ATB Investment Management Inc.
Finance
ATB Investment Services Inc.
Finance
ATB Securities Inc.
Finance
Child and Family Services Authorities:
Children’s Services

Effective January 1, 2008, the Alberta Energy and Utilities Board was realigned into two separate regulatory bodies: the Alberta
Utilities Commission and the Energy Resources Conservation Board.
2
Began operations January 1, 2008
1
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Entities Included In The Consolidated Government Reporting Entity
Ministry, Department, Fund or Agency

Ministry Annual Report

Calgary and Area Child and Family Services Authority
Central Alberta Child and Family Services Authority
East Central Alberta Child and Family Services Authority
Edmonton and Area Child and Family Services Authority
North Central Alberta Child and Family Services 			
		
Authority
Northeast Alberta Child and Family Services Authority
Northwest Alberta Child and Family Services Authority
Southeast Alberta Child and Family Services Authority
Southwest Alberta Child and Family Services Authority
Metis Settlements Child and Family Services Authority
C-FER Technologies (1999) Inc.
Advanced Education and Technology
3
Environment
Climate Change and Emissions Management Fund
Finance
Credit Union Deposit Guarantee Corporation
Advanced Education and Technology
Colleges:
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Alberta College of Art and Design
Bow Valley College
Grande Prairie Regional College
Grant MacEwan College
Keyano College
Lakeland College
Lethbridge Community College
Medicine Hat College
Mount Royal College
NorQuest College
Northern Lakes College
Olds College
Portage College
Red Deer College
Department of Advanced Education and Technology
Department of Agriculture and Food
Department of Children’s Services
Department of Education
Department of Energy
Department of Finance
Department of Environment
Department of Health and Wellness

Advanced Education and Technology
Agriculture and Food
Children’s Services
Education
Energy
Finance
Environment
Health and Wellness

1 Effective January 1, 2008, the Alberta Energy and Utilities Board was realigned into two separate regulatory bodies: the Alberta
Utilities Commission and the Energy Resources Conservation Board.
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Entities Included In The Consolidated Government Reporting Entity
Ministry, Department, Fund or Agency

Ministry Annual Report

Department of Municipal Affairs and Housing
Department of Seniors and Community Supports
Department of Solicitor General and Public Security
Department of Sustainable Resource Development
Department of Tourism, Parks, Recreation and Culture
Energy Resources Conservation Board1
Environmental Protection and Enhancement Fund
Gainers Inc.
Government House Foundation
Historic Resources Fund
Human Rights, Citizenship and Multiculturalism Education Fund
iCORE Inc.
Lottery Fund
Ministry of Advanced Education and Technology
Ministry of Agriculture and Food
Ministry of Children’s Services
Ministry of Education
Ministry of Employment, Immigration and Industry4
Ministry of Energy
Ministry of Environment
Ministry of Executive Council4
Ministry of Finance
Ministry of Health and Wellness
Ministry of Infrastructure and Transportation4
Ministry of International, Intergovernmental and Aboriginal
Relations4
Ministry of Justice4
Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing
Ministry of Seniors and Community Supports
Ministry of Service Alberta4
Ministry of Solicitor General and Public Security
Ministry of Sustainable Resource Development
Ministry of Tourism, Parks, Recreation and Culture
Ministry of the Treasury Board4
N.A. Properties (1994) Ltd.
Natural Resources Conservation Board

Municipal Affairs and Housing
Seniors and Community Supports
Solicitor General and Public Security
Sustainable Resource Development
Tourism, Parks, Recreation and Culture
Energy
Sustainable Resource Development
Finance
Tourism, Parks, Recreation and Culture
Tourism, Parks, Recreation and Culture
Tourism, Parks, Recreation and Culture
Advanced Education and Technology
Solicitor General and Public Security
Advanced Education and Technology
Agriculture and Food
Children’s Services
Education
Employment, Immigration and Industry
Energy
Environment
Executive Council
Finance
Health and Wellness
Infrastructure and Transportation
International, Intergovernmental and
Aboriginal Relations
Justice
Municipal Affairs and Housing
Seniors and Community Supports
Service Alberta
Solicitor General and Public Security
Sustainable Resource Development
Tourism, Parks, Recreation and Culture
Treasury Board
Finance
Sustainable Resource Development

Effective January 1, 2008, the Alberta Energy and Utilities Board was realigned into two separate regulatory bodies: the Alberta
Utilities Commission and the Energy Resources Conservation Board.
4
Ministry includes only the departments so separate departmental financial statements are not necessary.
1

93

••
•
•
•
•
•
•

2007-08 Infrastructure and Transportation Annual Report

Entities Included In The Consolidated Government Reporting Entity
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Ministry, Department, Fund or Agency

Ministry Annual Report

Persons with Developmental Disabilities Community Boards:
Calgary Region Community Board
Central Region Community Board
Edmonton Region Community Board
Northeast Region Community Board
Northwest Region Community Board
South Region Community Board
Persons with Developmental Disabilities Provincial Board5
Provincial Judges and Masters in Chambers Reserve Fund
Regional Health Authorities and Provincial Health Boards:
Alberta Cancer Board
Alberta Mental Health Board
Aspen Regional Health Authority
Calgary Health Region
Capital Health
Chinook Regional Health Authority
David Thompson Regional Health Authority
East Central Health
Health Quality Council of Alberta
Northern Lights Health Region
Peace Country Health
Palliser Health Region
Safety Codes Council
School Boards and Charter Schools:
Almadina School Society
Aspen View Regional Division No. 19
Aurora School Ltd.
Battle River Regional Division No. 31
Black Gold Regional Division No. 18
Boyle Street Education Centre
Buffalo Trail Public Schools Regional Division No. 28
Calgary Arts Academy Society
Calgary Girls’ School Society
Calgary Roman Catholic Separate School District No. 1
Calgary School District No. 19
Calgary Science School Society
Canadian Rockies Regional Division No. 12

Seniors and Community Supports

5

Ceased operations June 30, 2006

Seniors and Community Supports
Finance
Health and Wellness

Municipal Affairs and Housing
Education

2007-08 Infrastructure and Transportation Annual Report

Entities Included In The Consolidated Government Reporting Entity
Ministry, Department, Fund or Agency
CAPE-Centre for Academic and Personal Excellence
		
Institute
Chinook’s Edge School Division No. 73
Christ the Redeemer Catholic Separate Regional
		
Division No.3
Clearview School Division No. 71
East Central Alberta Catholic Separate Schools Regional
		
Division No. 16
East Central Francophone Education Region No. 3
Edmonton Catholic Separate School District No. 7
Edmonton School District No. 7
Elk Island Catholic Separate Regional Division No. 41
Elk Island Public Schools Regional Division No. 14
Evergreen Catholic Separate Regional Division No. 2
FFCA Charter School Society
Foothills School Division No. 38
Fort McMurray Roman Catholic Separate School
		
District No. 32
Fort McMurray School District No. 2833
Fort Vermilion School Division No. 52
Golden Hills School Division No. 75
Grande Prairie Public School District No. 2357
Grande Prairie Roman Catholic Separate School
		
District No. 28
Grande Yellowhead Regional Division No. 35
Grasslands Regional Division No. 6
Greater North Central Francophone Education
		
Region No. 2
Greater Southern Public Francophone Education
		
Region No. 4
Greater Southern Separate Catholic Francophone 		
Education Region No. 4
Greater St. Albert Catholic Regional Division No. 29
High Prairie School Division No. 48
Holy Family Catholic Regional Division No. 37
Holy Spirit Roman Catholic Separate Regional
		
Division No. 4
Horizon School Division No. 67
Lakeland Roman Catholic Separate School
		
District No. 150

Ministry Annual Report
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Entities Included In The Consolidated Government Reporting Entity
Ministry, Department, Fund or Agency

96

••
•
•
•
•
•
•

Lethbridge School District No. 51
Living Waters Catholic Regional Division No. 42
Livingstone Range School Division No. 68
Medicine Hat Catholic Separate Regional
		
Division No. 20
Medicine Hat School District No. 76
Moberly Hall School Society
Mother Earth’s Children’s Charter School Society
New Horizons Charter School Society
Northern Gateway Regional Division No. 10
Northern Lights School Division No. 69
Northland School Division No. 61
Northwest Francophone Education Region No. 1
Palliser Regional Division No. 26
Parkland School Division No. 70
Peace River School Division No. 10
Peace Wapiti School Division No. 76
Pembina Hills Regional Division No. 7
Prairie Land Regional Division No. 25
Prairie Rose School Division No. 8
Red Deer Catholic Regional Division No. 39
Red Deer School District No. 104
Rocky View School Division No. 41
St. Albert Protestant Separate School District No. 6
St. Paul Education Regional Division No. 1
St. Thomas Aquinas Roman Catholic Separate Regional
		
Division No. 38
Sturgeon School Division No. 24
Suzuki Charter School Society
Westmount Charter School Society
Westwind School Division No. 74
Wetaskiwin Regional Division No. 11
Wild Rose School Division No. 66
Wolf Creek School Division No. 72
Supplementary Retirement Plan Reserve Fund
Technical Institutes and The Banff Centre:
Northern Alberta Institute of Technology
Southern Alberta Institute of Technology
The Banff Centre for Continuing Education

Ministry Annual Report

Finance
Advanced Education and Technology
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Entities Included In The Consolidated Government Reporting Entity
Ministry, Department, Fund or Agency

Ministry Annual Report

Universities:
Athabasca University
The University of Alberta
The University of Calgary
The University of Lethbridge
Victims of Crime Fund
Wild Rose Foundation

Advanced Education and Technology

Solicitor General and Public Security
Tourism, Parks, Recreation and Culture

Entities Not Included In The Consolidated Government Reporting Entity
Fund or Agency

Ministry Annual Report

Advanced Education and Technology
Alberta Foundation for Health Research
Advanced Education and Technology
Alberta Heritage Foundation for Medical Research
Alberta Heritage Foundation for Science and Engineering 		Advanced Education and Technology
Research
Education
Alberta Teachers’ Retirement Fund Board
Municipal Affairs and Housing
Improvement Districts’ Trust Account
Finance
Local Authorities Pension Plan
Long-Term Disability Income Continuance Plan - Bargaining Unit Service Alberta
Long-Term Disability Income Continuance Plan - Management, Service Alberta
Opted Out and Excluded
Management Employees Pension Plan
Provincial Judges and Masters in Chambers Pension Plan
Provincial Judges and Masters in Chambers (Unregistered)
Pension lan
Public Service Management (Closed Membership) Pension Plan
Public Service Pension Plan
Special Areas Trust Account
Special Forces Pension Plan
Supplementary Retirement Plan for Public Service Managers
Workers’ Compensation Board

Finance
Finance
Finance
Finance
Finance
Municipal Affairs and Housing
Finance
Finance
Employment, Immigration and Industry
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GOVERNMENT ORGANIZATION CHANGES 2008-09
Ministry
Aboriginal Relations

Program/Element/Entity Changes
 Aboriginal Governance,
Consultation and Economic
Development
 First Nations Development Fund

Advanced Education
and Technology



no change



Rural Development



Women’s Issues



Culture, Community Lottery
Grants, Heritage, Human Rights
and Citizenship
Alberta Foundation for the Arts
Alberta Historical Resources
Foundation
Government House Foundation
Historic Resources Fund
Human Rights, Citizenship and
Multiculturalism Education Fund
Wild Rose Foundation
Community and Voluntary
Services



Former Tourism, Parks,
Recreation and Culture



Former Municipal
Affairs and Housing



Former Tourism, Parks,
Recreation and Culture

Agriculture and Rural
Development

Children and Youth

Services
(formerly Children’s
Services)
Culture and Community 
Spirit
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Education
Employment and
Immigration

•
•
•
•

no change
Francophone Secretariat



except Rural Development



Agriculture and Rural
Development



except Economic Development









except Northern Alberta
Development Council
except Alberta Economic
Development Authority
except Women’s Issues

Finance and Enterprise,
and International and
Intergovernmental
Relations
Finance and Enterprise






no change
no change
no change
Regulatory Review Secretariat




Health and Wellness

Former Employment,
Immigration and
Industry
Former Employment,
Immigration and
Industry






Energy
Environment
Executive Council
Finance and Enterprise

Previous Location
New Location
 Former International,
Intergovernmental and
Aboriginal Relations
 Former Tourism, Parks,
Recreation and Culture



Economic Development, except
Investment Attraction
Northern Alberta Development
Council
Alberta Economic Development
Authority
no change






Children and Youth
Services

Service Alberta

Former Employment,
Immigration and
Industry

e
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2007-2008 Ministry Annual Report Standards
Ministry
Housing and Urban
Affairs
Infrastructure
International and
Intergovernmental
Relations

Justice and Attorney
General
Municipal Affairs

Program/Element/Entity Changes
 Housing Services
 Alberta Social Housing
Corporation
 except Provincial Highway
Systems and Safety
 except Aboriginal Governance,
Consultation and Economic
Development
 Investment Attraction

Transportation



Aboriginal Relations



Housing and Urban Affairs



Culture and Community
Spirit

except Regulatory Review
Secretariat



Finance and Enterprise



Treasury Board




except Personnel Administration
Office
except Aircraft Services
no change



no change



except First Nations Development
Fund



Aboriginal Relations



except Culture, Community
Lottery Grants, Heritage, Human
Rights and Citizenship
except Alberta Foundation for the
Arts
except Alberta Historical
Resources Foundation
except Government House
Foundation
except Historic Resources Fund
except Human Rights, Citizenship
and Multiculturalism Education
Fund
except Wild Rose Foundation
except Francophone Secretariat



Culture and Community
Spirit



no change




except Housing Services
except Alberta Social Housing
Corporation
except Community and Voluntary
Services
no change

Seniors and Community 
Supports
Service Alberta















Former Infrastructure
and Transportation

New Location





Solicitor General and
Public Security
Sustainable Resource
Development
Tourism, Parks and
Recreation

Previous Location
 Former Municipal
Affairs and Housing

Former Employment,
Immigration and
Industry

••
•
•
•
•
•
•



Transportation



Provincial Highway Systems and
Safety



Former Infrastructure
and Transportation

Treasury Board



Corporate Human Resources
(formerly Personnel
Administration Office)
Aircraft Services



Service Alberta
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